

Australian Go Association

Constitution of the Australian Go Association as adopted at Extraordinary General Meeting 4th March 2018

1. Title

- 1.1 The Association shall be called the Australian Go Association; on incorporation, the Association shall be called the Australian Go Association Incorporated (hereinafter abbreviated the AGA).
- 1.2 As an Association incorporated under the laws of New South Wales, the AGA shall act in accordance with the NSW Associations Incorporation Act and Regulations. The Model Constitution of Schedule 1 of the Regulations shall be deemed to apply to any matter not explicitly covered by this Constitution.

2. Aims

- 2.1 The aims of the AGA shall be:
 - a. to promote the game of Go in Australia;
 - b. to co-ordinate Go activities in Australia, in particular to arrange National Tournaments and confer National Titles and individual rankings;
 - c. to represent Australia in International Go affairs, in particular by membership of the International Go Federation, and to select Australian representatives for international events such as the World Amateur Go Championships;
 - d. to promote mutual understanding and friendly relations with Go players throughout the world in association with foreign national Go associations.

3. Membership

- 3.1 The AGA is an association for Go players resident in Australia. Membership shall be open to any person.
- 3.2 Classes of Membership with full voting rights shall include:
 - a. Ordinary and Sustaining Memberships;
 - b. Life Membership.

- 3.3 Classes of membership with no voting rights shall include:
 - a. Associate Membership;
 - b. Honorary Membership.
- 3.4 Other classes of Membership may be created at a General Meeting. (Members with full voting rights will herein be termed Full Members.)

4. Management

- 4.1 The activities of the Association shall be controlled by a Committee subject to any resolutions of the Annual General Meeting and Extraordinary General Meetings.
- 4.2 The Committee shall be comprised of:

```
an elected President;
```

an elected Vice-President;

an elected Secretary-General (chief administrative officer, hereinafter referred to as the Secretary);

an elected Treasurer;

an elected Membership Registrar;

the National Coach (ex officio);

sufficient elected ordinary Committee members to bring the total number of the Committee to nine.

A Public Officer shall be appointed by the Committee from amongst its members.

- 4.3 All positions shall be Honorary, and all Committee members must be members of the AGA. There is no limit on the number of consecutive terms that may be served in any official role or as a member of the Committee.
- 4.4 A Committee member may hold up to 2 offices (other than both the President and Vice-President offices).
- 4.5 The Committee shall be elected at the Annual General Meeting and hold office until the next Annual General Meeting. Should more nominations be received for a position than are needed to fill that position, the members at the Meeting will take a separate vote by show of hands for each candidate, and the candidates with the greatest number of votes shall be declared elected; in particular, any member may vote for as many or as few candidates as they please.
- 4.6 A casual vacancy in the office of a member of the Committee occurs if the member:
 - a. dies, or
 - b. ceases to be a member of the Association, or
 - c. becomes an insolvent under administration within the meaning of the Corporations Act 2001 of the Commonwealth, or
 - d. resigns office by notice in writing given to the Secretary, or
 - e. is removed from office under clause 19 of the Model Constitution, or

- f. becomes a mentally incapacitated person, or
- g. is absent without the consent of the Committee from 3 consecutive meetings of the Committee, or
- h. is convicted of an offence involving fraud or dishonesty for which the maximum penalty on conviction is imprisonment for not less than 3 months, or
- i. is prohibited from being a director of a company under Part 2D.6
 (Disqualification from managing corporations) of the Corporations Act 2001 of the Commonwealth.

In the event of a vacancy occurring between elections, the Committee may by majority vote appoint casual members to act until the next General Meeting.

- 4.7 The Committee shall be responsible for executing the wishes of the Members as expressed in resolutions of General Meetings, maintaining the financial accounts and Membership Registry of the Association, meeting legal requirements of agreements entered into by the AGA, supervising the Association, supervising the arrangement of National Tournaments, selection of Australian representatives for international tournaments, liaising with foreign Go associations, and otherwise advancing the aims of the Association.
- 4.8 The quorum for a Committee meeting is 3 members including at least one of the President, Vice-President, Secretary or Treasurer. The Minutes of Committee meetings shall be available for inspection by members under section 9. In all other matters, the Committee's procedures for conducting its business shall be determined by the Committee alone, but the Committee shall report to the AGA on its actions at the next Annual General Meeting. This report shall include a financial statement and budget, the current numbers of Members and the names of Honorary and Life Members admitted during the year.
- 4.9 Committee members shall not be liable for debts incurred properly and handled with due care on behalf of the AGA.

5. Subscriptions

- 5.1 Subscriptions for each category of Membership, other than Life and Honorary Membership, shall be determined by the Committee and announced at the Annual General Meeting; and shall apply from the date of the announcement.
- 5.2 Membership other than Life Membership is valid for one year from the date of payment of the subscription fee.
- 5.3 There shall be no subscription for Life Members. The Annual General Meeting may admit any person as a Life Member who has been nominated and seconded by two Full Members of the AGA, of whom one must be a Committee member.
- 5.4 There shall be no subscription for Honorary Members. The Committee may admit any person as an Honorary Member who has been nominated and seconded by two Full Members of the AGA, of whom one must be a Committee member.

- 5.5 Tournaments and matches arranged by or for the AGA shall be open only to Members of the AGA or members of foreign Go associations, unless prior approval of the Committee has been obtained.
- 5.6 The Committee has the right to reject an application for membership at its own discretion, within 3 months of the application, with return of the membership fee, subject to Clause 10.4.

6. Meetings

- 6.1 Annual General Meetings shall be held once each calendar year. The Secretary shall give notice of the Meeting at least one month in advance, including the Agenda and Notice of Motions.
- 6.2 The business of the Annual General Meeting shall include but not be limited to:
 - a. reports of the President and Secretary, and the financial statement of the Treasurer;
 - b. election of the Committee;
 - c. selection of the Tournament Director and venue for the next National Tournament;
 - d. motions notified in advance.

Motions not notified by the Secretary in advance of the Meeting may be proposed at an Annual General Meeting except to change the Constitution, wind up the Association, or rescind a resolution of a previous General Meeting.

- 6.3 An Extraordinary General Meeting shall be held if called by the Committee, or by 40 Full Members; and shall be held within 3 months of written notice being received by the Secretary. At least one month notice shall be given to members. No business shall be conducted at an Extraordinary General Meeting other than that for which notice has been given.
- 6.4 Voting at General Meetings shall be by simple majority, except for changes to this Constitution which requires a two-thirds majority. Each Full Member present at the meeting has one vote. Full Members not present may vote on those Motions notified in advance by designating another Member to exercise their vote at the Meeting by proxy. To authorise the proxy the member must send a written notification or email to the Secretary at least 7 days prior to the Meeting, including their membership number, the membership number of their proxy, and the proposal or proposals where their vote may be cast. Proxy votes are not transferable, and may not be exercised on behalf of a Member who is present at the Meeting.
- 6.5 The quorum for a General Meeting shall be 15 Full Members. In the event that a quorum is not present for an Annual General Meeting, the existing Committee shall continue in office while a postal or electronic vote of all Full Members on the substantive matters in Clause 6.2 is conducted.

7. Postal or Electronic ballots

7.1 The Association may hold a postal ballot or electronic ballot (but not both) to determine any issue or proposal (other than an appeal under clause 9.4) which is not decided at a General Meeting. Such ballot is to be conducted in accordance with Schedule 3 to the Regulations.

8. Tournaments

- 8.1 The AGA shall arrange that a National Tournament or Tournaments be held each year to select an Australian Go Champion.
- 8.2 The venue for the tournament and Tournament Director shall be selected at the Annual General Meeting. The type of tournament and the rules for the tournament shall be determined by the Committee in consultation with the Tournament Director.

9. Documents and Register of Members

- 9.1 The Public Officer shall ensure that the official documents of the AGA, including records of Committee meetings and General meetings, financial documents, and this Constitution, shall be maintained and shall be available for inspection by members at any reasonable hour at no charge.
- 9.2 The Public Officer shall ensure that a register of members of the AGA be maintained.
- 9.3 The register must include the following particulars for each member:

the full name of the member;

the postal, residential address or electronic mail address of the member;

the date of admission as a member;

the date of death or time of resignation of the member;

details about the termination or reinstatement of membership;

any other particulars the Committee decide.

9.4 The register will be available, without charge, for inspection by members of the AGA or legal authorities at all reasonable times, within 10 working days of a written request.

A member must contact the Secretary to arrange an inspection of the register. However, the Committee may, on the application of a member of the AGA, withhold information about that member (other than the member's full name) from the register available for inspection, or if the Committee has reasonable grounds for believing the disclosure of the information would put the member at risk of harm.

9.5 A member must not:

a. use information obtained from the register of members of the AGA to contact, or send material to, another member for the purpose of advertising for political, religious, charitable or commercial purposes, unless such use or disclosure is approved by the AGA;

b. disclose information obtained from the register to someone else, knowing that the information is likely to be used to contact, or send material to, another member for the purpose of advertising for political, religious, charitable or commercial purposes.

10. Duties and rights of Members

- 10.1 A member may resign from the Association by giving a written notice of resignation to the Secretary.
- 10.2 The AGA is a member of the International Go Federation (IGF) and enjoins its members and Committee to act in accordance with the IGF Code of Ethics (Appendix 1). Breaches of the Code of Ethics including corrupt actions, conflict of interest, and cheating at AGA Tournaments, may incur sanctions ranging from a public warning to exclusion from AGA Tournaments or termination of membership.
- 10.3 The Committee may terminate a member's membership if the member:

is convicted of an indictable offence;

does not comply with any of the provisions of these rules;

has membership fees in arrears for at least 2 months;

conducts himself or herself in a way considered to be injurious or prejudicial to the character or interests of the AGA.

10.4 Before the Committee applies a sanction under 10.2 or terminates a member's membership under 10.3, the Committee must give the member a full and fair opportunity to show why the sanction or termination is not warranted.

If, after considering all representations made by the member, the Committee decides to apply the sanction or terminate the membership, the Secretary must give the member a written notice of the decision.

A person whose application for membership has been rejected, or whose membership has been terminated or has been sanctioned may give the Secretary written notice of the person's intention to appeal against the decision. A notice of intention to appeal must be given to the Secretary within 1 month after the person receives written notice of the decision.

If the Secretary receives a notice of intention to appeal, the Secretary must, within 1 month after receiving the notice, conduct a vote of all members to decide the appeal by majority of those voting. The vote shall be conducted by post and/or secure internet poll, giving the appellant and the Committee full and fair opportunity to state their respective cases. The membership fee of a member whose membership has been terminated may or may not be refunded at the discretion of the Committee.

10.5 The liability of a member of the Association to contribute towards the payment of the debts and liabilities of the Association or the costs, charges and expenses of the winding up of the Association is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid by the member in respect of membership of the Association as required by clause 5.

11. Dispute resolution

11.1 In the event of a dispute substantially affecting the normal operation of the Association occurring between members of the Association, or between a member or members and the Association, the Committee shall take all reasonable steps to resolve the dispute. If the matter cannot be resolved it shall be referred to a community justice centre for mediation under the NSW Community Justice Centres Act 1983.

12. Financial

- 12.1 The funds of the Association are to be derived from annual subscriptions of members, donations and, subject to any resolution passed by the Association in a General Meeting, such other sources as the Committee determines.
- 12.2 All money received by the Association must be deposited as soon as practicable and without deduction to the credit of the Association's bank or other authorised deposit-taking institution account.
- 12.3 The Association must, as soon as practicable after receiving any money, issue an appropriate receipt.
- 12.4 All cheques, drafts, bills of exchange, promissory notes and other negotiable instruments must be signed by 2 members of the Committee or employees of the Association, being members or employees authorised to do so by the Committee.
- 12.5 Notwithstanding the previous clause, the Treasurer is authorised to operate the Association's bank accounts by internet or other like means, and make transactions via direct bank transfer and debit card, with no co-signer, provided that any expenditures or purchases are properly incurred in the running of the Association. The Treasurer shall seek the prior consent of the Committee for any expenditures or purchases by these means that are not petty expenses or already approved by the Committee as budgetted items. Petty expenses are, until the Committee by resolution provides otherwise, expenditures or purchases under \$200. The Treasurer may with the approval of the Committee nominate and authorise other members or employees of the Association to receive limited access by debit card to any or all of the Association's accounts. The Treasurer shall ensure that all transactions covered by this clause are reported to the AGA and the Committee in the same way as any other transactions dealt with elsewhere in this Constitution.
- 12.6 The financial year of the Association is:
 - a. the period of time commencing on the date of incorporation of the Association and ending on the following 30 June, and
 - b. each period of 12 months after the expiration of the previous financial year of the Association, commencing on 1 July and ending on the following 30 June.
- 12.7 The assets and income of the AGA shall be applied solely in furtherance of its aims, as stated in Clause 2, and no portion shall be distributed directly or indirectly to the members of the AGA; except as bona fide compensation for services rendered or expenses incurred on behalf of the AGA.

12.8 In the event of the AGA being dissolved, the amount that remains after such dissolution and the satisfaction of all debts and liabilities shall be transferred to another organisation with similar purposes which is not carried out for the profit or gain of its individual members.

Appendix 1: International Go Federation Code of Ethics: appended below.

This Constitution, dated 4 March 2018, and ratified by a two-thirds majority at an Extraordinary General Meeting, shall take effect from 5 March 2018, and supersedes all previous constitutions of the AGA.



Attachment 1: Proxy form template

Attachment 2:

[here attach the Procedures for operating as an Incorporated Body document]

Attachment 3:

[here attach Guidelines for Committee members]



Code of Ethics

The International Go Federation

2015.06

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. Preamble	3
II. Scope of applicability	3
III. Definitions	3
IV. Ethical principles	3
V. Reporting and implementation	5
VI. Ethics Commission composition	6
VII. Effective date	6
APPENDIX A: Players' Code of Conduct	7

I. PREAMBLE

In accordance with the ancient traditions and ethos of Go which teaches respect for others, and the highest sporting ideals and precepts of the Olympic Charter, the IGF expects its Member Organizations, Officials and players to conform to the principles of ethics and good conduct, and so binds them to this Code of Ethics.

II. SCOPE OF APPLICABILITY

This Code shall apply to all IGF Member Organizations, IGF staff, Officials, participants in IGF organized tournaments, and persons elected or appointed to any position within the organization of the IGF

III. DEFINITIONS

- a) IGF Members Organizations herein refers to National and Regional Go Federations which are registered members of the IGF, and affiliated bodies listed in the Statues of the International Go Federation.
- b) Officials herein refers to members of the Board of the IGF and all persons appointed by the Board or by a Special Meeting or General Annual Meeting of the IGF to act on behalf of the IGF in the conduct of tournaments and any other IGF business.

IV. ETHICAL PRINCIPLES

a) Equality:

No discrimination on the basis of gender, race, religion, or political opinion shall be tolerated.

b) Dignity:

All forms of harassment, be they physical, psychological, professional or sexual, are prohibited.



c) Fair play:

- i. Players shall abide by the Players' Code of Conduct (Appendix A).
- ii. Officials, players and members of affiliated organizations shall not act in such a way as to bring the IGF or the sport of Go into disrepute, including gambling on or improperly influencing the outcome of IGF events, or engaging in corrupt or criminal acts.

d) Integrity:

- i. Officials shall not participate in the determination of any matter in which they have an undisclosed conflict of interest. Potential conflicts of interest shall be declared to the Board of the IGF.
- ii. Officials shall not, directly or indirectly, solicit, accept or offer any concealed remuneration, commission, benefit or service of any nature connected with their participation in the sport of Go or with their function as an official other than compensation for expenses properly incurred on behalf of the IGF except that gifts, hospitality or other benefits associated with their official functions may be accepted if such gifts, hospitality or other benefits are within the bounds of a normal expression of courtesy.

e) Neutrality:

The IGF Board shall remain politically neutral in its public declarations and actions, and act only in the furtherance of the sport of Go and the aims of the IGF as set out in the Statutes.

f) Resources:

Any contribution made by sponsors, partners and other supporters of Go events must be consistent with the principles set out in this Code of Ethics.

g) Confidentiality:

Officials shall not disclose improperly information entrusted to them in confidence by the IGF. The obligation to respect confidentiality survives the termination of any relationship which makes a person subject to this Code. c) For any violations of this Code of Ethics, the Ethics Commission may impose any one or more of the following sanctions:

THE INTERNATIONAL GO FEDERATION

V. REPORTING AND IMPLEMENTATION

affording natural justice to all concerned parties.

a)

b)

- i. in the case of breach of the Player's Code of Conduct during a tournament, a sanction as listed in the Code of Conduct;
- ii. a warning or reprimand;
- iii. revocation of any IGF award;
- iv. a ban for a fixed period of up to a lifetime from taking part in any IGF related activity;
- v. suspension from holding office or other position held by an Official for a fixed period of up to 4 years or until a specified set of conditions have been met to the Ethics Commission's satisfaction;
- vi. referral of the breach to the offender's member organization for possible further action:
- vii. recommendation to the IGF Board that the matter be referred to the appropriate law enforcement authorities.
- d) The IGF may take no action with respect to violations of this Code unless such action is taken within 10 years of the event to which it relates. Sexual misconduct, criminal acts, bribery and corruption are not subject to such a limitation period. The limitation period, when applicable, shall be prolonged if proceedings are opened and/or suspended



- e) Sanctions shall be in force immediately upon the decision being made unless the deciding body rules otherwise.
- f) Decisions taken by the Ethics Panel are subject to appeals lodged with the Court of Arbitration for Sport (CAS). The decisions of the CAS are final.

VI. ETHICS COMMISSION COMPOSITION

- a) The Ethics Commission shall consist of 5 Commissioners selected by the Board of the IGF annually from among IGF Directors and officials of member organizations, provided that no two Commissioners come from the same country, region, or IGF member organization.
- b) In the event of a reported breach of the Code by a member of the Ethics Commission, that Commissioner shall stand down and the Board shall select a temporary Commissioner, who is nominated by member organizations and who is not a Director nor from the same region, country or member organization as the replaced Commissioner.
- c) In the event of a reported breach by either the Board or the Ethics Commission as a whole, the IGF member organizations shall select an investigating Ethics Commission at an Annual General Meeting or at a Special Meeting, which may be conducted by the Secretary General by electronic communication.

VII. EFFECTIVE DATE

This Code comes into force on



APPENDIX A: PLAYERS' CODE OF CONDUCT

Tournaments

While playing games, players shall be expected to observe not only the formal rules of the tournament but also the spirit of fair play and co-operation with the organisers. Examples of behaviour which is not condoned include: being tardy or unnecessarily delaying the start of games; obstructing the opponent's view of the board; engaging in annoying or distracting behaviour; talking with other players engaged in play; seeking external advice in any form while the game is in progress; deliberately losing a game in order to advantage another player; gambling on the outcome of games or improperly seeking to influence the outcome of a game.

If a dispute arises, players should accept the referee's decision without challenge or rancour. Any appeal against the referee's decision should be made to the Chief Referee or Tournament Disputes Committee after the game.

General behaviour

Throughout the tournament, participants shall behave with courtesy and respect to other players and officials, and conform to the usual standards of decent behaviour and the social customs and conventions of the host nation.

Complaints

Complaints about the behaviour of a participant may be made to any Director of the IGF for transmission to the IGF Ethics Commission. If the complaint is found to be justified and the Ethics Commission is of the opinion that an apology is insufficient, the Commission may apply a sanction.

Sanctions

Infringements of the Code of Conduct may result in the Ethics Commission issuing a warning, verbal or written, to the player, with a letter sent to the player's National Association. Repeated infringements at one or more events, or a single infringement of a serious nature, or failure to pass an authorised drug test, or a breach of the laws of the host nation, may at the discretion of the Commission result in the disqualification of the player from the current tournament, or from IGF events for a set period or for life.

Appeals

Any appeal against a penalty imposed by the Ethics Commission must be made by the player's National Association in writing to the President of the IGF.

Promulgation

This Code shall be attached to the Entry Form for IGF events, and entrants must signify their acceptance of the Code.